IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC11-2320

INTERVEST CONSTRUCTION OF JAX, INC., a Florida corporation,
and ICI HOMES, INC., a Florida corporation,

Appellants,

vs.

GENERAL FIDELITY INSURANCE COMPANY,
a foreign corporation,

Appellee.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT
Case No.: 10-12613-GG

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

W. BRAXTON GILLAM, IV
Florida Bar No. 122076
ROBERT M. DEES
Florida Bar No. 714399
MILAM HOWARD NICANDRI
DEES & GILLAM, P.A.
14 East Bay Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
Tel: (904) 357-3660
Fax: (904) 357-3661

Counsel for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Nature of the Case

This is a breach of contract claim by the insureds, Intervest Construction of Jax, Inc., and ICI Homes, Inc., (collectively, “ICI”), against their insurer, General Fidelity Insurance Company, based upon a commercial general liability insurance policy General Fidelity issued to ICI (the “Policy”). The dispute arose out of a personal injury lawsuit filed against ICI by an injured homeowner. The Policy contains a \$1 million self-insured retention (“SIR”). The issue in the case is whether the Policy prevents ICI from using funds it received as indemnification from a third-party to satisfy the SIR.

B. Statement of the Facts

In 2000, ICI contracted with Custom Cutting, Inc., for Custom Cutting to provide trim work, including installation of attic stairs, in a home that ICI was building. (Doc. 11, ¶3) The contract between ICI and Custom Cutting contained an indemnification clause requiring Custom Cutting to indemnify ICI for any damages resulting from Custom Cutting’s negligence. (Doc. 11, Ex. 2)

In April 2007, the owner of the home was Katherine Ferrin. (Doc. 11, ¶2) Ms. Ferrin was seriously injured when the attic stairs Custom Cutting had installed fell from the ceiling while she was using them. (*Id.*) Ms. Ferrin filed suit against ICI for her injuries. (*Id.*) Ms. Ferrin did not make any claim against Custom

Cutting. (Doc. 11, Ex. 1) ICI demanded indemnification from Custom Cutting based on the indemnification clause in the contract between ICI and Custom Cutting. (Doc. 11, ¶9) ICI also became aware that Custom Cutting had a commercial general liability insurance policy issued by North Pointe Insurance Company (“North Pointe”), with limits of \$1,000,000. (*Id.*, ¶13) ICI was not an insured or additional insured in the North Pointe policy.

In July of 2009, ICI, Custom Cutting, North Pointe, General Fidelity, and Ms. Ferrin participated in a mediation. (*Id.*, ¶11) At the mediation, the parties agreed that ICI and General Fidelity would pay Ms. Ferrin \$1,600,000 to settle Ms. Ferrin’s claim. (*Id.*, ¶12) Also at the mediation, North Pointe agreed to pay \$1,000,000 to settle ICI’s indemnification claim against Custom Cutting (the “Custom Cutting Payment”). (*Id.*, ¶13) Custom Cutting’s policy with North Pointe was in effect at the time of the accident in April 2007, however, Custom Cutting was providing no work for ICI in April of 2007. (*Id.*, ¶5, Ex. 4, 8th “Whereas” paragraph)

North Pointe issued a check in the amount of \$1,000,000 payable to the trust account of ICI’s counsel, Milam Howard Nicandri Dees & Gillam, P.A. (“Milam Howard”). (Doc. 11, Ex. 4) General Fidelity had refused to settle unless Milam Howard agreed to hold the \$1,000,000 in escrow and subject to General Fidelity’s claim. (*Id.*) ICI objected to that procedure but agreed under protest so the Ferrin

case could be settled. (*Id.*) ICI and General Fidelity agreed that each would fund an additional \$300,000 to make up the \$1,600,000 settlement while reserving all rights and claims against one another regarding the Custom Cutting Payment. (*Id.*) In the reservation of rights, ICI and General Fidelity dispute the characterization of the Custom Cutting Payment and to whom it should have been made. (*Id.*, ¶14)

ICI provided Milam Howard with an additional \$300,000. Pursuant to ICI's instructions, and the agreement reached at mediation, Milam Howard delivered a trust account check in the amount of \$1,300,000.00 to Ferrin's counsel on August 11, 2009. General Fidelity paid the remaining \$300,000. (*Id.*)

ICI thereafter filed this action for breach of contract and declaratory judgment seeking return of the \$300,000 ICI paid above the \$1 million indemnification payment, as well as attorneys' fees incurred in the *Ferrin* lawsuit. (Doc. 2) ICI filed suit in the Circuit Court of Duval County, and General Fidelity removed the case to Federal court based on diversity jurisdiction. General Fidelity filed a counterclaim seeking return of the \$300,000 General Fidelity had paid. (Doc. 5) The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (Doc. 12, 16) The district court denied ICI's motion for summary judgment, and granted General Fidelity's motion for summary judgment, holding that ICI could not use the \$1 million indemnification payment to satisfy the SIR. (Doc. 25) ICI appealed the district court's ruling to the Eleventh Circuit. Since there are no Florida cases on

point, the Eleventh Circuit certified two questions to this Court.

C. Questions Certified

The Eleventh Circuit certified the following questions to this Court for resolution:

1. DOES THE GENERAL FIDELITY POLICY ALLOW THE INSURED TO APPLY INDEMNIFICATION PAYMENTS RECEIVED FROM A THIRD-PARTY TOWARDS SATISFACTION OF ITS \$1 MILLION SELF-INSURED RETENTION?

2. ASSUMING THAT FUNDS RECEIVED THROUGH AN INDEMNIFICATION CLAUSE CAN BE USED TO OFFSET THE SELF-INSURED RETENTION, DOES THE TRANSFER OF RIGHTS PROVISION FOUND IN THE GENERAL FIDELITY POLICY GRANT SUPERIOR RIGHTS TO BE MADE WHOLE TO THE INSURED OR TO THE INSURER?

D. Standard of Review

This Court’s review of a certified question regarding the interpretation of an insurance policy is *de novo*. *Blanton v. City of Pinellas Park*, 887 So. 2d 1224, 1226-27 (Fla. 2004); *Coleman v. Fla. Ins. Guaranty Ass’n., Inc.*, 517 So. 2d 686, 690 (Fla. 1988).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ICI received the \$1 million in indemnification based on its contract with Custom Cutting. General Fidelity was not a party to or beneficiary of the contract containing the indemnity clause. The only requirement in the Policy to reduce the SIR is that payment must be made “by the insured.” Since ICI owned the

indemnification funds, ICI's payment of the funds to Ms. Ferrin satisfied the Policy's requirement that the amount of the SIR be paid "by the insured." The Policy says nothing about, and therefore does not prevent, ICI from receiving indemnity for the amount of the SIR under the facts of this case.

Under the "made whole doctrine", ICI was entitled to be made whole by being indemnified for the amount of the SIR prior to General Fidelity being entitled to subrogation. The Policy does not address which party has priority to recover when an indemnity payment is insufficient to fully compensate both the insured and the insurer. Since the Policy does not waive the "made whole doctrine", ICI is entitled to be made whole from the indemnification payment before General Fidelity is entitled to enforce its subrogation rights. Accordingly, the trial court should have ruled that ICI's payment of the \$1 million indemnification funds to Ferrin satisfied the SIR, and that General Fidelity must reimburse ICI for the additional \$300,000 ICI paid as well as defense costs incurred in the *Ferrin* action.

ARGUMENT

I. **Nothing in the Policy Prevents ICI from Being Indemnified for the Amount of the SIR**

The first certified question is whether, under the Policy language, ICI can use the \$1,000,000 it received from Custom Cutting to satisfy the SIR. The SIR endorsement states that the SIR will only be reduced by payments “by you”, or “by the insured.” Since ICI owned the funds received as indemnification from Custom Cutting, ICI could use the funds to satisfy the SIR.

A. **The Policy provisions**

Nothing in the Policy precludes ICI from being indemnified for the amount of the SIR.

The SIR

The SIR provides in relevant part:

3. We have no duty to defend or indemnify unless and until the amount of the “Retained Limit” is exhausted by payment of settlements, judgments or “Claims Expense” by you.

. . .

5. Should any claim arising under this policy result in a settlement or judgment, including “Claims Expense” incurred by the insured or on the insured’s behalf, in excess of the “Retained Limit,” we will pay those amounts in excess of the “Retained Limit” to which this insurance applies subject to the Limits of Insurance as specified in the Declarations.

6. The “Retained Limit” will only be reduced by payments made by the insured.

. . .

14. . . . The payment of the “Retained limits” by the insured is a condition precedent for our obligation to pay any sums either in defense or indemnity and we shall not pay any such sums until and unless the insured has satisfied its “Retained limits”.

ICI satisfied Paragraphs 3, 6, and 14, by agreeing to pay the Custom Cutting Payment to Ferrin as part of the settlement of her claim. The Custom Cutting Payment belonged to ICI until it was paid to the underlying Plaintiff. ICI’s counsel delivered a check in the amount of \$1,300,000 to Ferrin’s counsel. This payment constituted payment of a settlement by ICI and was a “payment made by the insured” pursuant to the terms of the SIR.

Under Paragraph 5, General Fidelity agreed that if a settlement of a claim exceeded the Retained Limit, General Fidelity would pay the amount in excess of the Retained Limit. The underlying settlement was for the amount of \$1,600,000. Under the provisions of Paragraph 5, General Fidelity is required to pay the \$600,000 excess over the \$1,000,000 Retained Limit.¹

¹ At the time of settlement with Ferrin, ICI had already paid over \$60,000 in defense costs that reduced the retained limit. As such, not only did ICI not owe the additional \$300,000 it was forced to advance to ensure settlement of Ferrin’s claim, but it did not owe the full \$1 million of the Custom Cutting Payment in order to meet its obligations under the SIR endorsement.

No provision in the Policy prevents or even addresses whether ICI can make arrangements with third-parties to be indemnified for the amount of its SIR. Accordingly, General Fidelity had no legal claim to the \$1,000,000 indemnification payment. General Fidelity's ability to demand that ICI's counsel hold the \$1,000,000 in escrow arose solely out of its practical ability to prevent settlement of the underlying claim unless its demand was met.

The Transfer of Rights Clause

Similarly, the subrogation clause in the policy does not apply. The subrogation clause states that:

8. Transfer of Rights of Recovery Against Others to Us

If the insured has rights to recover all or part of any payment we have made under this Coverage Part, those rights are transferred to us.

(Doc. 2, p. 32 of 81)

This clause does not apply because, at the time General Fidelity made its \$300,000 payment, Custom Cutting had been released by ICI, with General Fidelity's approval. In addition, the subrogation clause does not say that General Fidelity's subrogation rights are superior to those of ICI. Under Florida law, the opposite is true, and General Fidelity's subrogation rights are inferior to ICI's subrogation rights. As more fully set forth in Section II of this brief, *infra*, the "made whole

doctrine” applies where an insurer and its insured both have subrogation rights but the potential recovery exceeds the available funds. In such circumstance the insurer is not entitled to subrogation until the insured has been made whole.

The Subcontractor Requirements Endorsement

Similarly, and contrary to General Fidelity’s argument in the trial court, the Subcontractor Requirements Endorsement does not apply to this case.² (Doc. 11, Ex. 3) The Subcontractor Endorsement specifically applies only to “services performed or completed during the policy period.” The Subcontractor Requirements Endorsement states that:

1. You are required to procure and maintain a written agreement with each of your Service Providers **for services performed or completed during the policy period** that includes the following material provisions to the maximum extent allowable by state laws: (emphasis supplied)

(Doc. 2, p. 61 of 81)

The indemnity agreement between ICI and Custom Cutting was executed in 2000, six years before the effective date of General Fidelity’s policy. The Policy does not require the insured to obtain an indemnity agreement where the services were not performed or completed during the policy period. Here, Custom

² General Fidelity admitted in its Answer Brief in the Eleventh Circuit that the Subcontractor Requirements Endorsement does “not directly apply to the facts in this case. . . .” (AB, p. 33)

Cutting's work was completed six years before the policy was issued. General Fidelity had nothing to do with requiring or obtaining the indemnity agreement between ICI and Custom Cutting, and is not entitled to receive the benefit of this agreement.

No clause in the policy addresses the circumstances of this case, where ICI received contractual indemnification from a subcontractor for work performed or completed prior to issuance of the policy. General Fidelity was a stranger to the indemnification agreement between ICI and Custom Cutting, and ICI was entitled to use those funds, which belonged to ICI, to satisfy the SIR.

If Custom Cutting's work had been performed during the policy period, and the Subcontractor Requirements Endorsement was therefore applicable, General Fidelity would have a stronger argument that its policy would be excess over a payment made by a subcontractor's insurance policy as indemnification to ICI. The Subcontractor Requirements Endorsement states that:

This insurance shall be excess over any other insurance available to you **as an additional insured** under a policy of insurance issued to a Service Provider or subcontractor.

(Doc. 11, Ex. 3) (emphasis supplied)

Those are indisputably not the facts of this case. In addition to Custom Cutting's work not being performed during the policy period, ICI was not an additional

insured under the North Pointe policy. As such, the Subcontractor Endorsement does not apply and General Fidelity cannot now rewrite the policy to address circumstances not addressed in the policy.

If the underlying case had not settled and the underlying Plaintiff had obtained a judgment against ICI for \$1,600,000, ICI would have been responsible for paying the first \$1,000,000 and General Fidelity would have been responsible for paying \$600,000 plus defense costs. ICI would have had five years thereafter to bring a claim against Custom Cutting for contractual indemnification. Nothing in the Policy prevents ICI from being indemnified and nothing entitles General Fidelity to take credit for indemnification ICI receives, at the very least not until ICI has been made whole.

B. California case law

There are no Florida cases on point regarding satisfaction of an SIR. There are some California cases discussing satisfaction of an SIR, but none of the California cases have the same policy language as in this case. As the Eleventh Circuit correctly noted in its decision, the California cases which held that payments from other parties did not satisfy an SIR involved insurance policies that specifically addressed the factual circumstances that occurred. Where the policies did not specifically prohibit use of funds from other parties to satisfy SIRs, the California cases allowed money received from third parties to satisfy an SIR.

For example, in *Vons Cos., Inc. v. United States Fire Ins. Co.*, 78 Cal. App. 4th 52 (2000), the insured settled an underlying tort lawsuit. The insured had a liability policy with a \$1,000,000 SIR. The insured was also named as an additional insured under its landlord's policy, which did not contain an SIR. The landlord's insurer paid \$1,000,000 to Vons, and Vons paid the \$1,000,000 and an additional \$539,905 to settle the underlying case. Vons' insurer took the position that Vons had not satisfied the \$1,000,000 SIR because the \$1,000,000 had come from the landlord's insurer. The court held that

[I]f the policy terms either permitted the use of other insurance to cover the SIR amount, or were at least ambiguous on that point, then the insured could exhaust the SIR in that manner. An examination of the Vons policy leads us to conclude that Vons too could exhaust its SIR through other insurance.

78 Cal. App. 4th 52, 62.

The California cases that have determined SIRs were not satisfied involve substantially different terms than are in the General Fidelity policy. For example, in *Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Arena Group 2000, LP*, 2007 WL 935611 (S.D. Cal. March 8, 2007), the issues were: (1) whether Arena Group, as an additional insured, was subject to an SIR in a policy issued to the named insured; and (2) whether a policy can require that the SIR be paid from the insured's account. The court held that the SIR did apply to any insured, whether it was the named insured

or an additional insured. The court also held that “a policy may prohibit the use of other insurance to satisfy a retention by including a policy provision requiring the insured to personally pay the retained amount.” *Arena Group*, 2007 WL 935611, *5, *citing Vons*. The policy in *Arena Group* stated that the “Insured shall pay from its own account all amounts within the Retained Amount...” *Id.*, *3. The policy also stated that the “Retained Amount is the responsibility of the Insured and is to be paid from the Insured’s own account.” *Id.* The court concluded that:

Because the Policy unambiguously requires the Insured to pay the Retained Amount from its “own account,” the Court concludes that payments made by Arena Group’s other insurers to Doll and Snow do not satisfy the retention.

2007 WL 935611 at *5

General Fidelity’s Policy in this case does not have the language the *Arena Group* court relied on in determining that the insured’s Retained Limit had to be paid out of the insured’s own account. General Fidelity may not add such terms to the Policy after a loss has occurred.

Similarly, the policy terms and facts were different in *Forecast Homes, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co.*, 2010 WL 95091 (Cal. App. 4 Dist. 2010). Forecast Homes was a developer and had been named as an additional insured under its subcontractors’ insurance policies. Those insurance policies contained SIR

provisions which required that the named insured pay the retained limit. The policies specifically prohibited the retained limited from being paid by an additional insured. Since the Policy said that the SIR had to be paid by the named insured, and not an additional insured, the court held that payments by Forecast (an additional insured) did not satisfy the SIR. The court also “question[ed] why Forecast apparently never asked the subcontractors to activate their policies by funding the SIR.” 181 Cal. App. 4th at 1483.

Unlike the policy in *Forecast Homes*, the General Fidelity Policy does not specifically address the circumstances that occurred. Nothing in the Policy prohibits ICI from being indemnified from a third-party and using the funds received from the third-party to satisfy the SIR.

Since the Eleventh Circuit certified this matter to the Court, the federal district court in the Middle District of California in *National Fire Ins. Co. of Hartford v. Federal Ins. Co.*, 2012 WL 13669 (N.D. Cal., Jan. 4, 2012) distinguished *Forecast Homes* for this same reason. National Fire paid \$1 million to settle a wrongful death claim against its insureds, a restaurant and hotel. Federal insured the hotel with a policy containing a \$250,000 SIR. The SIR stated that it would only be reduced by “payments you make.”

The court rejected Federal's argument that *Forecast Homes* should control since "the policy does not clearly require the hotel to satisfy the SIR out of its own pocket." 2012 WL 13669, at *6. The court held "that the hotel can be deemed to have satisfied the SIR through the payments made by National on its behalf." *Id.*

This case is even stronger than *National Fire* with respect to satisfaction of the SIR, because ICI used money payable to it pursuant to a contract of indemnification to satisfy the SIR amount. It was only General Fidelity's effort to change the facts, by insisting that the \$1 million be held jointly for ICI and General Fidelity, that prevented ICI from receiving the \$1 million directly and paying it to Ferrin (rather than such sums being paid from its 'attorneys' trust account).

C. ICI Satisfied the SIR

The Custom Cutting Payment should have been made directly to ICI only, pursuant the Contract between ICI and Custom Cutting. As such, the \$1,000,000 belonged to ICI and ICI was entitled to use these funds to satisfy its SIR obligation. From the time ICI's counsel received the \$1,000,000 until the time ICI's counsel delivered the \$1,300,000 check to Ms. Ferrin's attorney, ICI owned the \$1,000,000, subject only to General Fidelity's incorrect claim that it has a legal interest in the \$1,000,000.

Ms. Ferrin brought suit only against ICI and never sued Custom Cutting, North Pointe, or General Fidelity. (Doc 11, ¶ 2) Custom Cutting had no

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