IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC11-2320

INTERVEST CONSTRUCTION OF JAX, INC., a Florida corporation,
and ICI HOMES, INC., a Florida corporation,

Appellants,

vs.

GENERAL FIDELITY INSURANCE COMPANY,
a foreign corporation,

Appellee.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTIONS FROM THE
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT
Case No.: 10-12613-GG

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

LOUIS SCHULMAN
Florida Bar No: 377244
DUTTON LAW GROUP, P.A.
P.O. Box 260697
Tampa, Florida 33685
Tel: (813) 247-2222

Counsel for Appellee

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A

With all due respect, General Fidelity asserts that the Court of Appeals has phrased its certified questions in a manner that does not directly state the issues before this Court. General Fidelity would respectfully restate those questions as follows:

1. Does the General Fidelity Policy allow the insured to apply indemnification payments received from a third-party toward satisfaction of its \$1 million self-insured retention?

2. Assuming indemnification payments received from a third-party cannot be used to offset the self-insured retention, does the allocation

of risk in the General Fidelity policy grant superior rights to indemnification payments to the insured or to the insurer? (Emphasis added.)

The reason General Fidelity has amended the Court of Appeals' questions is that those questions conflate the issue of the source of funds for ICI's SIR payment with the issue of the right to indemnity payments from North Pointe. The language of the policy treats those issues as entirely separate, and to be applied one at a time, regardless of the actual mechanism for settling a particular claim. If indemnification from North Pointe can be used to satisfy payment of the SIR, then the Court of Appeals' second question is moot. The issue of indemnification by the tortfeasor, under the policy terms, only arises after the issue of payment of the claim has been resolved. The issues of payment of the SIR and indemnity from third-parties are addressed in two different parts of the policy. Allowing indemnity payments to be used to satisfy the SIR would render the separate provision dealing with the rights of the parties to the policy as against third-parties superfluous and meaningless. The actual mechanism utilized by the parties in settling this case, as emphasized by ICI in its brief, is in fact irrelevant.

B

Presuming that the indemnity payment cannot satisfy the SIR, ICI then seeks to invoke the "made whole doctrine" in support of its position that the indemnity payment should first be applied to any payment made by

ICI. In fact, that doctrine does not apply to the facts of this case for several reasons.

The courts have recognized that the “made whole doctrine” is a default rule, which is subject to statutory enactments and contract terms. It cannot be invoked, as ICI has attempted to do, to override policy terms.

In essence, the “made whole” concept is based on a specific allocation of risks under an insurance policy. In most cases, primary liability is allocated to the insurer, and therefore any excess payment by the insured, such as when the limit of coverage is insufficient, must be reimbursed first. Where, as here, the Insured has contracted to retain the initial risk, it only makes sense that if the parties to the insurance contract achieve any recovery from a third-party, that payment becomes the property of the insurer to the extent of any payment in excess of the SIR.

The SIR endorsement clearly allocates the risk of payment of the first \$1,000,000 to ICI. It is clear that the Policy requires ICI to bear the risk of losses within the \$1,000,000 self-insured retention. Therefore, it follows that General Fidelity has the first right to reimbursement from any indemnity payments received from third parties, such as Custom Cuttings’ insurer, North Pointe.

C

Even if ICI, as a practical matter, had the indemnity payment from North Pointe in its physical possession, had used the payment by North Pointe to pay the first \$1 million, and had been able to compel General Fidelity to pay the subsequent \$600,000, General Fidelity would still have the right to recover its payment from ICI as reimbursement for its payment, a right also granted by the policy. This provision addresses the situation, alleged to have occurred here, where an indemnity payment from a third-party is used, along with a payment from the insurer, to satisfy the claim of an injured party. Even in this situation, ICI could not keep the indemnity payment as having been used to satisfy the SIR, since the policy grants General Fidelity the right to reimbursement where indemnity was made before payment of the SIR by ICI.

ARGUMENT

A. The policy requires ICI to pay the SIR with its own funds

The district court properly refused to rewrite the insurance contract and vitiate the policy endorsement requiring payment of the self-insured retention by the Insured, and instead imposing a duty on General Fidelity to pay amounts within the self-insured retention.

The very purpose of the SIR is to require the ICI to make payment of

its own funds prior to any liability arising under the General Liability policy. The fact that payments from Custom Cutting may have passed through ICI's hands does not make such payments the property of ICI. Such an application of the Policy terms would render them meaningless as referring only to the mechanism in which payments were executed, and not to the substantive rights of the parties.

In general, it has been held that self-insured retentions, as opposed to deductibles, render a policy of liability insurance excess to the self-insured retention, and therefore no duties under the liability policy arise until the retention has been paid.

For example, in *Beloit Liquidating Trust v. Century Indemnity Co.*, 2002 WL 31870525 (N.D. Ill.), the court was dealing with a general liability policy where the Self-Insured Retention Endorsement "expressly limits the defendant's liability to ultimate net loss in excess of plaintiff's retained limit." The court held that the Self-Insured Retention Endorsement made it clear that no coverage began until the SIR's exhaustion, and that therefore such exhaustion was required not only with respect to the duty to indemnify, but with respect to the duty to defend as well.

The 11th Circuit also has had the opportunity to examine the nature of a self-insured retention under Florida law. *State National. Ins. Co. v.*

Lamberti, 362 Fed. Appx. 76, 2010 WL 200832 (11th Cir. 2010). In that case, which dealt with the applicability of the SIR to a specific coverage and the number of times it could be applied, the Court stated in a footnote: “[a]n SIR is similar, but not identical, to a deductible. A deductible is deducted from the overall policy limits, whereas the SIR is not. Also, unlike with a deductible, *the insurer is not liable until the insured has paid the whole of its SIR*” 362 Fed. Appx. at 78, 2010 WL 200832 *1.

This case concerns the method in which the SIR in ICI’s policy can be satisfied. The District held, correctly, that under the terms of General Fidelity’s policy, the SIR could not be satisfied by an indemnity payment from Custom Cuttings’ insurer, North Pointe. The District Court rejected the fundamental argument advanced by ICI: that based on some strained interpretation of the Policy, the payment from North Pointe to settle the underlying Ferrin’s claim somehow constituted a payment from ICI.

ICI actually agrees with most of the District Court’s decision. ICI agrees with the Court’s reading of the Policy, the law applicable to the Policy’s SIR provisions under Florida law, and the analysis utilized by the Court. ICI’s sole argument with the District Court seems to be that the Court, in having applied the correct law to the correct facts, nonetheless reached the wrong conclusion. In making this argument, ICI resorts to

reliance on irrelevant facts not referenced in the District Court's decision and to legal argument not supported by the cited legal authorities

ICI has never argued that the terms of the SIR are ambiguous or that "the terms of the policy have more than one reasonable interpretation. ..." *Swire Pacific Holdings, Inc. v. Zurich Ins. Co.*, 845 So. 2d 161, 165 (Fla. 2003). Under those very terms, ICI cannot apply the payment by North Pointe to satisfy the SIR. General Fidelity's policy is not implicated "unless and until the amount of the 'Retained Limit' is exhausted by payment of settlements, judgments, or 'Claims Expense' *by you*" Doc.6, Exh. 3.

As in its Statement of the Issues and Statement of the Case, ICI tries in its Argument to characterize the agreed settlement between the parties as facts upon which the District Court should have determined coverage. App. 7. In its Brief, ICI states that "[The Custom Cutting payment belonged to ICI until it was paid to the underlying plaintiff." App. 7. [The payment by ICI's counsel] constituted payment of the settlement by ICI and was a 'payment made by the insured' pursuant to the terms of the SIR." App. 7. This is simply an improper characterization of the payment by North Pointe to ICI's counsel *in trust* on behalf of ICI and General Fidelity. As discussed above, the Settlement Agreement reserved the parties' rights. It cannot provide a basis to establish rights.

Again on pages 15-17 of its Brief, ICI attempts to rely on the facts of the settlement as somehow relevant to the legal rights of the parties under the Policy, rights which were specifically reserved by the Settlement Agreement. General Fidelity simply cannot fathom how ICI can advance its argument on the basis of a settlement designed to preserve the parties' rights.

In any event, the exact issue facing the Court in this case has been addressed by several decisions from California, applying the same rules of construction used in Florida. One very similar case is *Travelers Indemnity Co. v. Arena Group 2000, L.P.*, 2007 WL 935611 (S.D. Cal.). In that case, personal injury suits were brought against Arena Group when a marquee on its building fell onto the plaintiffs. Arena was an insured under its own primary and excess policies, and under a tenant's policy as an additional insured pursuant to an indemnity agreement. The claims were settled, with Arena's own carriers each contributing. The carrier with the "additional insured" coverage, Crum & Forster, also contributed, but the issue of whether Arena Group or Crum & Forster were liable to pay an additional \$500,000, the amount of the SIR in C & F's policy, was reserved for litigation, just as in this case.

The C & F policy contained an SIR provision which stated that the "Retained Amount is the responsibility of the Insured and is to be paid from

the Insured's own account." Arena argued that this amount had been satisfied by payments made on its behalf by the other carriers.

The court held that the SIR had not been satisfied, saying that provisions in policies requiring the insured to pay the claim itself are valid:

Because the Policy unambiguously requires the Insured to pay the Retained Amount from its "own account," the Court concludes that payments made by Arena Group's other insurers to Doll and Snow do not satisfy the retention.

2007 WL 935611 at *5. In the instant case, General Fidelity's policy states:

3. We have no duty to defend or indemnify unless and until the amount of the "Retained Limit" is exhausted by payment of settlements, judgments, or "Claims Expense" by you (ICI).

* * *

6. The "Retained Limit" will only be reduced by payments made by the insured.

The policy also states:

14. The insolvency, bankruptcy, receivership of the insured, or any refusal by or inability of the insured to satisfy its obligations pursuant to this endorsement will not reduce the "Retained Limit" as set forth in the endorsement, nor will it require us to pay any amounts within the "Retained Limit." *The payment of the "Retained limits" by the insured is a condition precedent for our obligation to pay any sums either in defense or indemnity and we shall not pay any such sums until and unless the insured has satisfied its "Retained limits".* [Emphasis added.]

In this case, the \$1,000,000.00 was paid by North Pointe, not ICI. The payment by North Pointe cannot satisfy the SIR. While the language in the C & F policy referred to the insured's "own account," it is clear the meaning is the same.

Likewise, in *Forecast Homes, Inc. v. Steadfast Ins. Co.*, 2010 WL 95091 (Cal. Ct. App.), a general contractor, Forecast, was sued for construction defects. It had required its subcontractors to defend and indemnify Forecast and have Forecast named as an additional insured under their policies. When Forecast was sued, it tendered the defense to the subcontractors' carriers.

The carriers did not accept the tender of the defense. They asserted that their policies each contained an SIR, which could only be satisfied by payment by the named insureds, the subcontractors, which had not happened. Forecast said it could pay the self-insured retentions itself.

The court disagreed. It said that under the policies' terms, the named insured was required to pay the SIR out of its own funds, and if it did not, coverage was not triggered. *Forecast* could not pay the SIR itself. The facts of this case refute one of the main arguments made by ICI, that the characterization of the payment from North Pointe as a payment to ICI

solves the SIR problem, because at that point the money would belong to ICI. In *Forecast*, the contractor made essentially the same argument, that if the checks had been made out differently, the payment would have appeared to come from the named insureds. The reasoning of that court defeats this argument, however, because the court recognized that the insurance policy was a contract that reflected specific risk allocations, and was not about the characterization of payments or the order in which checks were issued.

ICI points out in its brief that since the time when the Eleventh Circuit certified this case to the Supreme Court, a subsequent California case, *National Fire Ins. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co.*, 2012 WL 13669 (N. D. Cal. Jan 4, 2012) has again taken up the subject of self-insured retentions. According to ICI, *National Fire* shows that *Forecast* was dependent on the language in the policy at issue, and that the result was different where the policy language was different. General Fidelity agrees with this statement.

What General Fidelity disagrees with is that the differences in policy language in *National Fire* are pertinent here. Federal's policy specifically provided, among other things, that the bankruptcy of any other **insurer** of its insured would not increase its exposure. The court found that inherent in this statement was that in the absence of bankruptcy, the existence of other insurance could affect Federal's coverage. In this regard, General Fidelity's

policy is like that in *Forecast*.⁵

Moreover, *National Fire* turns very much on the peculiar facts of the case. The tortfeasors were both insured under National Fire's policy, and issues regarding "other insurance" were applicable. Here, no issue of "other insurance" exists. Further, factual issues existed regarding the apportionment of liability between the settling tortfeasors. The Court denied both insurers' motions for summary judgment. *National Fire* simply does not provide any guidance in this case.

Finally, in *Insurance Co. of the State of Pa. v. Acceptance Ins. Co.*, 2002 WL 32515066 (C.D. Cal), the court again enforced a provision in an SIR requiring that the insured, and not some other party, pay the SIR. Once again, the court found that the parties had allocated the risk by contract, and additionally, as in this case, the SIR endorsement specifically controlled over any conflicting provisions in the basic policy.⁶

In this case, the District Court carefully analyzed the California cases. The Court correctly concluded that the means by which an SIR could be

⁵ General Fidelity policy, Doc. 2, Exhibit A, form CG 0001 12 04, p. 10 of 15 states: "Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Insured or of the Insured's estate will not relieve us of our obligations under this Coverage Part." No mention is made of the insolvency of any other insurer, as in *National Fire*.

⁶ "In the event of a conflict between any of the terms ... of the policy and this endorsement, this endorsement will control..."

satisfied depends on the policy terms, and that here the policy required ICI to use its own funds.

While California seems to be the primary locus for decisions on this issue, other courts have addressed the meaning of self-insured retentions.

In *Koch Development Co., Inc. v. Clarendon America Insurance Co.*, 2008 WL 215214 (E.D. Mo.), a complex case involving an attempt to force payment from an insurer whose policy contained an SIR, the court stated:

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